IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRODERICK W. MONLYN,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC02-1729
(Lower Case No. 92-147-CF)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL
CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MADISON COUNTY, FLORIDA, DENYING
APPELLANT'S AMENDED FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE
3.850 MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND
SENTENCES, INCLUDING A DEATH SENTENCE, AFTER AN
EVIDENTIARY HEARING

Baya Harrison, III, Esq.
Post Office Drawer 1219
Monticello, Florida 32345
Tel: (850) 997-8469
FX: (850) 997-8468
Fla. Bar No. 099568
Counsel for Appellant
Broderick W. Monlyn

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant Broderick W. Monlyn was the defendant in the lower tribunal. He will be referred to as “Monlyn” or the “defendant.” Appellee, the State of Florida, was the plaintiff in the lower tribunal. It will be referred to as “the state.”

The record on appeal is in ten volumes.

Volumes I through VI contain the pleadings filed in the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 proceedings in the lower tribunal.

Volumes VII through X contain various hearing transcripts relating to the amended Rule 3.850 motion. The index to these volumes is somewhat confusing in describing the matters contained therein. Thus, a more detailed description of the contents of each volume is provided below.

Volume VII contains the August 18, 1999 hearing transcript regarding the state's objections to the defendant's public records requests, and a portion of the April 19, 2002 evidentiary hearing transcript on the defendant's amended 3.850 motion.

Volume VIII contains the remainder of the April 19, 2002 evidentiary hearing transcript, a second copy of the August 18, 1999 hearing transcript on the objections to defendant's public records requests, the April 7, 2000 status

conference transcript, and the April 18, 2001 status conference transcript.

Volume IX contains the transcripts of the *Huff* hearing held on October 19, 2002, the November 20, 2001 hearing transcript regarding the trial court's inspection of sealed records, and a second copy of the March 19, 2002 evidentiary hearing transcript.

Volume X contains the transcript of the remaining (duplicate) copy of the March 19, 2002 evidentiary hearing.

References to the post conviction record ("PCR") will be by Volume number followed by the handwritten page number appearing at the bottom of each page as provided by the clerk. For example, page 1061 of volume seven will be cited as "(PCR-VII-1061)." References to the original record on appeal of Monlyn's judgments of convictions and sentences will be cited by the letters "OR" followed by a page number.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Monlyn has been sentenced to death. Therefore, oral argument is requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

A. Nature of the Case:

This is a direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida of a June 24, 2002 Final Order (PCR-V-804-77) rendered by the trial court denying Monlyn's amended Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure motion to vacate and set aside his conviction and sentences, including a death sentence, filed pursuant to the provisions of Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and 3.851.

B. Course of the Proceedings:

On October 22, 1992, Monlyn was indicted by a Madison County, Florida grand jury and charged with murder in the first degree, robbery while armed with a deadly weapon and kidnapping while armed. (OR. 749-50) On October 15, 1993, after a jury trial, Monlyn was found guilty as charged on all three counts. (OR. 2205). A penalty phase trial was then held. On October 19, 1993, the jury returned a death recommendation by a vote of 12-0. (OR. 2370). The trial court, Hon. E. Vernon Douglas, Circuit Judge, sentenced Monlyn to death (OR. 2435-37). Written findings in support of the imposition of the death sentence were filed on November 2, 1993. (OR. 3047-48)

Monlyn took a direct appeal to this Court. (PCR-IV-572) He raised thirteen issues on direct appeal. (PCR-IV-573) Those claims, as summarized by this Court, were as follows:

(1) Error to allow the medical examiner's testimony that Watson was still alive and suffered more head blows after being bound and gagged;

(2) Error to overrule **Monlyn's** objection when he was asked on cross-examination about the inconsistency between his testimony that he bit the victim and the medical examiner's testimony that there were only blunt injuries to the victim;

(3) Error not to grant a mistrial after the state's questions as to why **Monlyn** had not told anyone about his fight with victim and whether he realized that the victim would die without medical attention;

(4) Error to admit the victim's wife's testimony that the victim

usually carried \$ 200.00 to \$ 300.00 in cash with him;

(5) Error to deny a motion for mistrial during the state's guilt-phase closing argument;

(6) Error to admit Johnny Craddock's testimony regarding **Monlyn's** statements made weeks before the homicide;

(7) Error to refuse to give **Monlyn's** requested circumstantial evidence instructions;

(8) Error to give the standard reasonable doubt instruction;

- (9) Error to give an unconstitutionally vague instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator;
- (10) Error to find that the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP);
- (11) Error to give the standard heinous, atrocious, or cruel instruction;
- (12) Error not to give **Monlyn's** requested mitigation instruction; and
- (13) Error not to instruct against doubling the pecuniary gain and robbery aggravators.

Monlyn v. State, 705 So. 2d 1, 3-4 (Fla. 1997).¹ On October 9, 1999, Monlyn's convictions, judgments and sentences, including the death sentence, were affirmed by this Court. *Monlyn v. State*, 705 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1997), rehearing denied on January 22, 1998. (PCR-IV-574)

Monlyn then sought collateral post conviction relief in the trial court. On June 25, 1999, he filed a Motion to Vacate Judgments and Sentences with a special request to amend per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. (PCR-III-383-482) On July 31, 2001, he filed an Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence. (PCR-IV-571-592) The amended 3.850 motion included the following claims:

(1) Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to challenge the testimony of Jerome Blackshear on the ground that Blackshear was incompetent to testify. (PCR-IV-574-575)

(2) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to object and preserve for appellate review the issue of Mrs. Watson's testimony that it was her husband's habit to carrying significant amounts of cash with him at all times. (PCR-IV-575-577)

(3) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to elicit testimony from the Florida Department of Law Enforcement agent who discovered \$100.00 in Watson's wallet, in contravention of the state's argument that the wallet was found containing no money. (PCR-IV-577-578)

(4) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to object to the admission of DNA evidence because the PCR-DNA testing was not generally accepted in the scientific community at the time of Monlyn's trial, and failure to request a *Frye* hearing. (PCR-IV-578)

(5) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to call William E. Banks as a witness during the defense's case-in-chief to corroborate the testimony of

¹ In the opinion, the above listed issues were in paragraph form.

Monlyn. (PCR-IV-579)

(6) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to minimize the first aggravating circumstance relied on by the state by establishing that Monlyn did not commit a violent act during the alleged robbery, and denial of his right to an adversarial testing at the penalty phase of his trial. (PCR-IV-579)

(7) Denial of Monlyn's right to adversarial testing at the penalty phase of his capital trial in that the jury was allowed to consider the aggravating circumstance of pecuniary gain, which was not proven by the State. (PCR-IV-580-581)

(8) The death penalty imposed upon Monlyn is unconstitutional because the jury was allowed to consider alleged aggravating circumstances which were not defined with the specificity required by the state and federal constitutions. (PCR-IV-581-582)

(9) Monlyn was denied the right to adversarial testing and the effective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase of his trial because defense counsel failed to introduce evidence of Monlyn's remorse for causing Watson's death. (PCR-IV-582-83)

(10) Monlyn was denied the constitutional right to adduce mitigating evidence at the penalty phase trial by not being allowed by his counsel to testify in his own behalf. The trial court infringed on Monlyn's constitutional right to testify at the penalty phase of the trial by failing to conduct an inquiry of Monlyn as to whether he wished to testify or present mitigation. The trial court also failed to inquire of Monlyn as to whether he knowingly and voluntarily waived this right. (PCR-IV-583)

(11) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to properly advise Monlyn of his right to testify at the penalty phase of the trial. Had Monlyn testified at the penalty phase of his trial, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different. (PCR-IV-584)

(12) Monlyn was deprived his right to adversarial testing at the penalty phase his trial and therefore his death sentence is unreliable. In this claim, Monlyn raised several sub-claims identified in paragraphs (a) through (m). (PCR-IV-584-89)

On September 21, 2001, the state filed a Response to Defendant's Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence. (PCR-IV-631-51) After conducting a *Huff*² hearing, the trial court granted an evidentiary hearing as to claims 1 through 6, 9, 11, and 12(c) and (h). (PCR-IV-666-667) The trial court denied an evidentiary hearing as to claims 7, 8, 10, 12(a), (b), (d), (e) through (g), and (i) through (m).³ On March

² *Huff v. State*, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993)

³ Monlyn and the state agreed that an evidentiary hearing was not required as to

19, 2002, the trial court presided over the post conviction evidentiary hearing as to the claims referenced above. (PCR-VII-1097-1224)

On June 11, 2002, the state filed its post evidentiary hearing memorandum. (PRC-IV-712-750) On June 18, 2002, Monlyn filed his Post Evidentiary Argument in Support of his Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence. (PCR-V-756-803)

C. Disposition in Lower Tribunal:

On June 20, 2002, the trial court rendered a final Order denying Monlyn's motion for post conviction relief. (PCR-V-804-08) On July 12, 2002, Monlyn filed a timely notice of appeal to this Court along with directions to the clerk and designations to the court reporter. (PCR-VI-964-65, 1055-58)

D. Statement on Jurisdiction:

This Court has jurisdiction to review the lower tribunal's denial of Monlyn's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion to vacate and set aside his judgments of conviction and sentences, including a death sentence, per the provisions of Article V, Section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution, Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(A)(I) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(g).

E. Standard of Appellate Review:

This is a post conviction capital case involving mixed questions of law and fact. As such, the circuit court Order denying Monlyn's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion appealed from is subject to *de novo* review except that deference must be given to the trial court's findings of fact so long as there is competent and substantial evidence to support same. *Johnson v. Moore*, 789 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2001); *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001); *Rose v. State*, 675 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996).

F. Statement of the Facts:

The Facts Regarding the Homicide

The basic facts regarding the homicide are found in this Court's opinion in *Monlyn v. State*, 705 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1997) and the record. Monlyn provides a synopsis of same below.

Monlyn had personally known Mr. Watson as he and his relatives lived across the road from the deceased and his family for years. (OR. 827; *Monlyn*, 705 So. 2d at 2) Monlyn would sometimes fish at a pond located on Watson's property. (OR. 1116) On one occasion in 1990, about 18 months before the homicide, Monlyn, a cousin (Jerome Blackshear) and a friend (John Craddock) trespassed on Watson's property and were fishing at the pond. Watson drove up telling the men to "[h]old it right there." He was brandishing a high-powered rifle. (OR. 1001,

1011) When Monlyn and the two other men had gone about 75 yards and were off Watson's land, Monlyn and Watson fired several gunshots, either up in the air or at one another. (OR. 1003, 1021)

Several months later, Monlyn and his cousin (Jerome Blackshear) were in prison together. One day while they were talking, the defendant told Blackshear that he was going to kill Watson. (OR-1009). Immediately before the homicide, Monlyn was in the Madison County Jail, and he told another inmate (John Craddock) that he wanted to be out of jail for his birthday. He also said that he would kill the first person he saw so he could get a ride. (OR. 1059, 1092) Monlyn never said, however, that that person would be Alton Watson. (OR-1116)

The next day, on October 6, 1992, Monlyn escaped from the Madison County Jail. (OR. 1093) During the next several days, he apparently went to his grandmother's house, broke into his own house to get some clothes and money (OR. 1452) and stole a shotgun from his uncle's truck to protect himself from animals. (OR. 1431) He spent one night in Watson's barn because he had been told that the police were looking for him and would be coming to his house. (OR. 1453, 1456). At trial, one of his cousins (Darrell Adams) related that Monlyn told him he was going to rob Watson of his truck and money and go to Mexico. (OR. 1106) Monlyn stated that he never planned to rob anyone. (OR. 1456)

Monlyn loitered about the area for a day and spent a second night in Watson's barn. Early on the morning of October 8, 1992, Watson came into the barn and surprised Monlyn as he was trying to leave. (OR. 1459) The shotgun was propped near a wall. Both men saw it and grabbed for it. (OR. 1461) Monlyn, by this time, had the barrel of the weapon and he began to swing it over his head, hitting Watson. (OR. 1468) The struggle continued into the yard while Monlyn tried to escape. By this time Watson was bleeding heavily and had ceased his attack on Monlyn. (OR. 1470) Monlyn then tied Watson's feet together, gagged him, dragged him into the barn, and left in Watson's truck. *Id.* When Watson's body was found, his wallet was located next to him. It was initially thought that there was no money in the wallet. (OR. 836) A Tallahassee, Florida crime laboratory agent subsequently reported that there was in fact \$100.00 found in a hidden compartment of Watson's wallet. (PCR-IV-576)

The defendant took Watson's truck, drove through some fields, and finally got onto a road. (OR-835) He abandoned the truck in Lake City, Florida, bought a bike, and met a girl friend there. (OR. 1130, 1149) When asked how much money he had, Monlyn said he had to "improvise" and said that he had about \$20.00. (OR. 1131) His friend let him stay at her trailer, but she called the police, who quickly responded. (OR. 1137) The law enforcement officers found Monlyn inside in the bathroom. (OR. 1160) When arrested he had \$25.00 in his

possession. His hand was swollen, and he had a cut on his forehead. (OR. 1194)
Watson died as a result of wounds to his head.

Monlyn was charged with first-degree murder, robbery and kidnapping. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found the defendant guilty as charged.

During the penalty phase portion of the trial, the state introduced evidence and argued that the following aggravating factors had been established: (1) Monlyn had previously been convicted of the commission of a prior violent felony (the robbery of Watson), (2) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of, or an attempt to commit, a robbery or kidnapping; (3) the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain; (4) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (5) the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated. (OR. 2422)

Monlyn did not present any evidence as to the existence of any statutory mitigating factors. However, he did present a few non-statutory mitigating factors, which were: (1) Monlyn was an affectionate and considerate person toward his family; (2) he had been helpful to others; (3) during his stays in state prison, he had no record of disciplinary actions; and (4) he presented good behavior at trial. (OR. 2433)

The jury recommended death by a vote of 12-0.

At the conclusion of the penalty phase, the trial court determined that the state had proven beyond a reasonable doubt the five statutory aggravating factors referenced above. As to the mitigating factors, the trial court found that Monlyn did not argue nor establish any of the statutory mitigating factors contained in Section 921.141(6), Florida Statutes (1993). (OR. 3038) As to the non-statutory mitigating factors, the court found that Monlyn had established the four non-statutory mitigating factors referenced above. (OR. 3038-39) However, the trial court found that the non-statutory mitigating factors did not outweigh the aggravating factors. (OR. 3040) Therefore, the trial court accepted the jury's advisory recommendation and sentenced Monlyn to death. (OR. 3040)

The Rule 3.850 Hearing Testimony

The testimony and documentary evidence presented during the March 19, 2002, evidentiary hearing on Monlyn's amended 3.850 motion are summarized below.

The first witness called at the evidentiary hearing was Investigator Ben Steward of the Madison County Sheriff's Office. (PCR-VII-1107-21) Investigator Steward was the lead investigator regarding the homicide of Mr. Waston. (PCR-VII-1108) He testified that Mr. Watson's wallet was not found by law enforcement personnel at the crime scene. Instead, it was located the next day by Mr. Watson's son, who turned it over to him (Investigator Steward). (PCR-VII-1109-10) The investigator made a cursory check of the contents of the wallet by

opening it to see if there was any money, being careful not to handle it more than he had to, and then provided it to Agent Pfeil, who submitted it to the FDLE lab. (PCR-VII-1109-10). Detective Steward was later notified by an FDLE analyst that its crime lab found a folded \$100.00 bill in a compartment in the wallet. (PCR-VII-1112-14) Investigator Steward prepared an affidavit confirming that the FDLE crime lab found the \$100.00 and that the victim's wife stated that her husband kept \$100.00 hidden in his wallet for emergencies. (PCR-VII-1113-14)

The second witness called at the evidentiary hearing was Jerome Blackshear. (PCR 1121-1169) He testified that he sustained four or five head injuries prior to Monlyn's trial. (PCR-VII-1128) As a result, he experienced dizzy spells, black outs and memory loss. (PCR-VII-1128-1132) Blackshear had testified at Monlyn's trial that Monlyn told him while they were incarcerated at Holmes Correctional Institution that he was going to kill Watson. (PCR-VII-1137) Blackshear acknowledged that his head injuries affected his ability to accurately remember the conversation he had with Monlyn. (PCR-VII 1137-38) At the time of Monlyn's trial, Blackshear was taking Thorazine and Sinequan for his head injuries. (PCR-VII-1149). The Florida Department of Corrections kept a record of the drugs he was taking. (PCR-VII 1149)

Darrell LeShawn Adams testified next at the Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing. (PCR-1175) He stated that he could not remember anything about the testimony he offered during Monlyn's trial. (PCR-VII-1179).

Duncan Jones was the next witness to testify at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR-VII-1180) He worked at the Public Defender's Office at the time of Monlyn's trial and assisted lead defense counsel, Jimmy Hunt. (PCR-VII-1180-81) Jones helped with matters related to the introduction of DNA evidence. (PCR-VII-1183-1202) In particular, Jones objected to the state's introduction of the testimony of expert Sue Livingston concerning the FDLE's use of new DNA testing procedures. (PCR-VII-1186-89) The basis for the objection was that at the time of Monlyn's trial there were no national standards concerning this new type of DNA testing, and there was only one lab using it. (PCR-VII-1187) Defense counsel did not attempt to exclude the DNA evidence prior to trial because he considered the evidence to be a minor issue and because Hunt and he both agreed that Monlyn was going to be found guilty regardless. (PCR-VII-1189-90) Therefore, according to Jones, their main focus of the case was to avoid the death penalty. (PCR-VII-1190)

Jones also objected at trial to Sue Livingston being accepted by the trial court as an expert because she had extremely limited experience with this new technology and because there was no objective peer review. (PCR-VII-1192-94) Jones indicated that he and Hunt were unaware of a debate in the scientific community at the time of the trial as to the validity of this new type of testing.

(PCR-VII-1195-96) They didn't think the DNA evidence would materially affect the case, and they therefore did not request a *Frye* hearing. (PCR-VII-1198-1201) Jones acknowledged on cross-examination that although the PCR/DQ-alpha methodology was not well known in the forensic community at the time, it was a well-documented methodology in a non-forensic setting. (PCR-VII-1213)

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