IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRODERICK W. MONLYN,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC02-1729

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MADISON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

Here, Monlyn's testimony at the guilt phase was also evidence that he was aware of his right to testify at the penalty phase. Here, as in *Daniels*, other than Monlyn's general after-the-fact denials that he was unaware of his right to testify at the penalty phase, there was no evidence to rebut the trial court's findings.

Furthermore, there is no prejudice because even if the defendant had testified in the penalty phase about his remorse it would not have changed the jury recommendation. Testifying that you were in "the wrong place at the wrong time" is not remorse. United States v. Coker, 52 F.3d 1123 (D.C. Cir. 1995)(affirming denial of sentencing reduction and concluding that a defendant attributing his involvement to being "in the wrong place at the wrong time" is an attempt to minimize his

responsibility). Monlyn was in the "wrong place" because he escaped from jail and broke into the barn, not because of any fortuitous circumstance. The "right place" for Monlyn was in jail but he escaped. No jury would found such testimony compelling mitigation. Furthermore, the jury was unlikely to find credible remorse testimony of an eleven time convicted felon. Monlyn's ambivalent remorse testimony would not have resulted in a life recommendation. Washington v. Kemna, 16 Fed. Appx. 528 (8th Cir. 2001)(holding that there was no prejudice from counsel's failure to inform the defendant of his right to testify because Washington's proposed trial testimony would have merely reiterated the alibi defense already provided through the trial testimony of his mother).

Monlyn's reliance on *United States v. Teague*, 953 F.2d 1525, 1532 (11th Cir. 1992)(en banc) and *Gallego v. United States*, 174 F.3d 1196 (11th Cir. 1999), is misplaced. In *Teague*, trial counsel filed a motion for new trial asserting that while she thought it better if the defendant did not testify, she was concerned that the defendant may not have understood that the final decision was his to make. Here, by contrast, defense counsel did not express any concern that Monlyn may not have understood that the final decision was his to make. Far from it - defense counsel testified that he always discussed the right to testify and he was certain he followed that standard practice in this case as well.

In *Gallego*, the Eleventh Circuit concluded that the district court followed an erroneous legal standard in assessing

defendant's claim that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to properly advise defendant that he had a constitutional right to testify. The district court rejected the claim following an evidentiary hearing. incorrectly ruled that "as a matter of law [a] magistrate defendant could not carry his burden without presenting some evidence in addition to his own word, which is contrary to counsel's." Gallego, 174 F.3d at 1198. The Eleventh Circuit remanded for a new evidentiary hearing in front of a different magistrate because a defendant's testimony that his counsel did not inform him of his rights is sufficient if believed by the trial court. The Eleventh Circuit stated that the magistrate did not weigh the defendant's credibility. Here, by contrast, the trial court made a traditional credibility determination and did not use an incorrect legal standard.

The trial court's credibilty finding that trial counsel informed Monlyn of his right to testify at the penalty phase should be affirmed. There is no prejudice because his quasi-remorse testimony would not have resulted in a life sentence. The trial court denial of this claim should be affirmed.

CUMULATIVE ERROR

Monlyn asserts that the cumulative errors of trial counsel amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel. TB at 38. Because all three claims are without merit, the cumulative error claim is necessarily without merit. Griffin v. State, 2003 WL 22207901 (Fla. Sept. 25, 2003)(concluding that because "the alleged individual errors are without merit, the contention of cumulative error is similarly without merit"); Vining v. State, 827 So.2d 201, 219 (Fla. 2002)(same); Downs v. State, 740 So.2d 506, 509 n. 5 (Fla. 1999) (finding that claim of cumulative error was without merit where the court found the individual claims to be without merit). Zero plus zero plus zero equals zero. United States v. Villa, 46 F.3d 1153 (10th Cir. 1995)(unpublished opinion)(rejecting a cumulative error argument based on four claims of error because "zero plus zero equals zero, and four There is no zeros added together still equal zero."). cumulative error.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO RULE ON TWO CLAIMS IN THE POST-CONVICTION MOTION IS PRESERVED? (Restated)

Monlyn asserts that the trial court failed to rule on issues (7) and (8) of his post-conviction motion. These issues are not preserved for appellate review. Monlyn did not obtain a ruling from the trial court as required. A party abandons an issue by failing to obtain a ruling from the court. Monlyn should have pointed out the oversight to the trial court, not this Court. Monlyn has abandoned issues (7) and (8) by his failure to obtain a ruling from the trial court. Furthermore, both issues are procedurally barred. Issue (7), regarding the finding of pecuniary gain as an aggravator, should have been raised on direct appeal. Issue (8), regarding the CCP findings and jury instruction, was raised in the direct appeal and is barred by the law of the case doctrine. These issues are also procedurally barred. Monlyn does not even address the merits of either issue.

<u>Facts</u>

In his amended motion, Monlyn asserted, as issue (7), that the trial court improperly instructed the jury on the pecuniary gain aggravator because pecuniary gain was not the primary motive for the murder (PC Vol. IV 580-581). As issue (8), Monlyn asserted that CCP aggravator jury instruction was unconstitutional and the trial court improperly refused to give a anti-doubling instruction but acknowledged that both instruction had been

addressed and rejected in the direct appeal. (PC Vol. IV 581-582). In the State's response, the State noted that issue (7) should be summarily denied. (PC Vol. IV 646-647). Issue (7) was procedurally barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal and was meritless. In the State's response, the State noted that issue (8) should be summarily denied. (PC Vol. IV 647). Issue (8) was procedurally barred because it was rejected by the Florida Supreme Court in the direct appeal.

At the *Huff* hearing, the State explained that issue (7) was procedurally barred. (PC Vol. IX 1434-1435). The State also explained that issue (8) was raised on direct appeal and found meritless by the Florida Supreme Court. (PC Vol. IX 1435). Defense counsel agreed that no evidentiary hearing was required for either issue (7) or issue (8). (PC Vol. IX 1434-1435).

The trial court's order, following the *Huff* hearing, summarily denied several claims "for the reasons set out in the State's response" but ruled that "no evidentiary hearing will be held on the issues raised in section C paragraphs 7 and 8 by agreement of the parties as the issues may be determine without the necessity of an evidentiary hearing." (PC Vol. IV 666-667).

Preservation

The trial court's failure to rule on these two issues is not preserved. It is a well established rule of appellate practice that a party abandons an issue by failing to obtain a ruling from the court. Rose v. State, 787 So.2d 786, 797 (Fla. 2001), cert. denied, 535 U.S. 951, 122 S.Ct. 1349, 152 L.Ed.2d 252

(2002) (noting that, as a general rule, the failure of a party to get a timely ruling by a trial court constitutes a waiver of the matter for appellate purposes); Richardson v. State, 437 So.2d 1091, 1094 (Fla. 1983)(holding the defendant did not preserve the motion to strike certain testimony because he failed to obtain a ruling from the court on the motion); State v. Kelley, 588 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(noting the rule is clear that it is the movant's burden to secure rulings on his or her motions, and that failure to obtain a ruling on a motion effectively waives that motion); Carratelli v. State, 832 So.2d 850 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002)(stating that a "plethora of Florida cases support the notion that a party must obtain a ruling from the trial court in order to preserve an issue for appellate review."); Shipman v. State, 842 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) (holding the defendant abandoned his objection in the trial court by failing to obtain a ruling from the court); see also § 924.051(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1997)(stating "Preserved" means that an issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was timely raised before, and ruled on by, the trial court, and that the issue, legal argument, or objection to evidence was sufficiently precise that it fairly apprised the trial court of the relief sought and the grounds therefor). Monlyn should have pointed out the oversight to the trial court, not this Court. Monlyn has abandoned issues (7) and (8) by his failure to obtain a ruling from the trial court.

Monlyn's reliance Ottesen v. State, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D2198, 2003 WL 22149151 (Fla. 2d DCA Sept. 19, 2003) and Morrison v. State,

842 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), is misplaced. In Ottesen, the trial court failed to address six claims in the postconviction motion in its order of denial and the Court reversed and remanded for the trial court to consider the merits of the claims pursuant to the procedure set forth in rule 3.850. However, Ottesen was an appeal of a summary denial of a postconviction motion. The Second District remanded evidentiary hearing on another claim of ineffectiveness. other words, the case was being remanded anyway. Morrison, likewise, was a summary denial of the motion, that was being remanded for an evidentiary hearing on three other claims anyway. If a case is being remanded anyway, there is no harm is requiring the trial court to rule on the omitted claims on However, if the case is not being remanded, there should be no exception to the rule that a party must obtain a ruling from the trial court. 15 To hold otherwise, would eviscerate this long standing rule of appellate practice and

and Gonzalez v. State, 829 So.2d 323 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), were both summary denial cases, but they were not being remanded for an evidentiary hearing on other claims anyway. They were both remanded on the one claim the trial court failed to address. They are incorrectly decided because they ignore the basic rule of appellate practice that a party must obtain a ruling from the trial court to appeal an issue. It is not apparent whether an abandonment argument was made in either case and often there are no briefs filed by the State in appeals from summary denials of 3.850 motions in non-capital cases.

result in legal churning. State v. Rucker, 613 So.2d 460, 462 (Fla. 1993)(finding the trial court's failure to make specific findings regarding whether the prior convictions were pardoned or set aside was harmless where the defendant did not assert that the convictions were, in fact, either pardoned or set aside because "[w]ere we to remand for resentencing, the result would be mere legal churning"); Herrington v. State, 643 So.2d 1078 (Fla. 1994)(holding trial court's failure to make statutorily required findings of fact where evidence was unrebutted was harmless error and agreeing with the district court that a remand would involve needless waste of time and expense). 16 Monlyn presents no argument on appeal that either issue is not, in fact, procedurally barred or has any merit to it. Rather, he present merely a failure to rule argument.

Procedural Bar

Both issues are procedurally barred. Issue (7), regarding the finding of pecuniary gain as an aggravator, should have been raised on direct appeal. *Griffin v. State*, 2003 WL 22207901 (Fla. Sept. 25, 2003)(holding claims of instructional error in the penalty phase are procedurally barred because they could have and should have been raised on direct appeal); *Shere v.*

Both Rucker and Herrington involved the trial court's failure to make findings of fact. Here, by contrast, both issues are pure issues of law. By agreeing that no evidentiary hearing was required on either issue, collateral counsel admitted that both issues were pure issues of law. There is even less reason to remand on pure issues of law. This Court can just as easily determine whether the issues are procedurally barred and the merits as the trial court.

State, 742 So. 2d 215, 218 n.7 (Fla. 1999) (rejecting an argument that the evidence contradicted most of the court's findings on aggravators and mitigators and noting that, to the extent the defendant was challenging the jury instructions given on the aggravators, the postconviction court correctly found these claims procedurally barred because they should have been raised on direct appeal). Issue (8), regarding the CCP findings and jury instruction, was raised in the direct appeal and is barred by the law of the case doctrine. Monlyn, 705 So.2d at 5-6. Monlyn may not relitigate an issue already decided adversely to him in the direct appeal in his post-conviction appeal. Shere v. State, 742 So.2d 215, 218 n.7 (Fla. 1999)(explaining, with regard to the CCP aggravator, that where the Court upheld its application to this case on direct appeal, a defendant is precluded from relitigating this claim in his 3.850 motion). Both issues are procedurally barred.

Merits

This Court, in the direct appeal, held:

We consider Monlyn's tenth and eleventh issues together: he arques that an unconstitutional CCP instruction was given and that it was error both to instruct on and find the CCP aggravating circumstance. The instruction given was the standard jury instruction we invalidated in Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla.1994). However, we have held that the aggravator can still stand where the facts of the case establish that the killing was CCP under any definition. See, e.g., Reese v. State, 694 So.2d 678 (Fla.1997); Larzelere v. State, 676 So.2d 394 (Fla.), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 1043, 117 S.Ct. 615, 136 L.Ed.2d 539 (1996). The sentencing order explicitly sets out the facts supporting the aggravator. The court found that Monlyn told others in prison that when he got out he was going to kill the victim; told Johnny Craddock that he was going to escape, get his shotgun, kill the first person he saw, steal the person's vehicle, and leave the area; concealed himself in the victim's barn and waited for him; and then kidnapped and murdered the victim and stole his truck. This provides ample evidence of heightened premeditation; evidence of a careful plan or prearranged design; evidence that Monlyn killed the victim after cool, calm reflection; and no pretense of moral or legal justification. See Jackson, 648 So.2d at 89. Because of this, the erroneous instruction was harmless. We find no error either in instructing on or finding CCP, and we find no reversible error in using the unconstitutional instruction.

Monlyn, 705 So.2d at 5-6. The Monlyn Court found that the facts established "ample evidence" of CCP. The Monlyn Court found "no error either in instructing on or finding CCP," and "no reversible error in using the unconstitutional instruction." Monlyn presents no argument in this appeal explaining how or why this Court's previous merits determination was incorrect.

Additionally, contrary to Monlyn's claim in the trial court, to establish the pecuniary gain aggravator, the State must prove that the murder was motivated, at least in part, by a desire to obtain money, property, or other financial gain. This Court has consistently found the pecuniary gain aggravator applies where the murder was committed during the forcible taking of an automobile. Rogers v. State, 783 So.2d 980, 993 (Fla. 2001)(citing Wyatt v. State, 641 So.2d 355, 359 (Fla.1994) and Lambrix v. State, 494 So.2d 1143, 1148 (Fla. 1986)). Only when a defendant abandons the vehicle shortly after the murder has this Court stricken the pecuniary gain aggravator. Rogers v. State, 783 So.2d 980, 993 (Fla. 2001)(citing Allen, 662 So.2d at 330; Scull, 533 So.2d at 1142 and Peek, 395 So.2d at 499). Monlyn drove the victim's truck to Lake City - over 50 miles away. Moreover, he stole the truck to facilitate his escape

from jail, not merely his escape from the murder. Moreover, while not necessary, the State's evidence was that the taking of the truck was the primary motive for this murder. Thus, the trial court should have denied both claims as being procedurally barred and meritless.

CONCLUSION

The trial court's denial of post-conviction relief should be affirmed.